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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF SOUTH DAKOTA
CENTRAL DIVISION

CHARLEE ARCHAMBAULT individually
and as PERSONAL REPRESNTATIVE

OF THE ESTATE OF
JACOB ARCHAMBAULT,
Plaintiff,
VS. COMPLAINT
AND
THE UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL

JOSHUA ATMAN and JAY ROMERO SR.,
individually and in their official capacity as
police officers for the ROSEBUD SIOUX
TRIBAL LAW ENFORCEMENT
SERVICES, and UNKNOWN
SUPERVISORY PERSONNEL OF THE
UNITED STATES, individually,

Defendants.

COMES NOW, Plaintiff, Charlee Archambault, individually and as personal
representative of the Estate of Jacob Archambault, by and through the undersigned attorneys,

and for this complaint against Defendants, alleges as follows:

JURISDICTION

1. Plaintiff, Charlee Archambault, appears individually and as the Personal
Representative of the Estate of the decedent, Jacob Archambault Spotted Tail (hereafter
“Archambault™), and is a resident of Todd County, state of South Dakota.

2. Plaintiff is the surviving parent of Jacob Archambault Spotted Tail and

maintains causes of action to recover for decedent’s life and decedent’s pain and suffering.
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3. Jurisdiction is proper pursuant to 42 U.S.C.A. §§ 1981, 1983, 1985 and 1988
and Bivens v. Six Unknown Named Agents of Federal Bureau of Narcotics, 403 U.S. 388,
397,91 S.Ct. 1999, 29 L. Ed. 619 (1971), as well as under the United States Constitution,
including its Fourth, Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments, and the Constitution of the State of
South Dakota.

4, At all relevant times herein, the United States, by and through its Department
of the Interior, Bureau of Indian Affairs, contracted with the Rosebud Sioux Tribe and its
Police Department pursuant to 25 U.S.C. § 5321 et. seq., Indian Self Determination Act, to
provide law enforcement services on the Rosebud Sioux Indian Reservation.

5. At all relevant times herein, the Rosebud Sioux Tribe and its Police
Department operated a police department on the Rosebud Sioux Indian Reservation and
employed numerous employees who were performing functions under the contract entered
into pursuant to 25 U.S.C. § 5321, et. seq., which renders said employees United States
Government employees.

6. At all relevant times herein, Defendants Joshua Michael Atman and Jay
Romero Sr. were employed by and acting as police officers under the color of state and
federal law for the Rosebud Sioux Tribal Law Enforcement, and both defendants are being
sued in their individual and official capacity.

7. Plaintiff is ignorant of the correct spelling of Defendants' names and will
amend this pleading and allege the true name once the true spelling is ascertained.

8. This action is timely pursuant to 28 U.S.C.A. § 2401(b) in that it was

presented to the appropriate agency within two years of accrual.
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9. Plaintiff further invokes this Court’s pendent jurisdiction over any and all state
law claims and causes of action that derive from the same nucleus of operative facts that give
rise to the federally based claims and causes of action pursuant to 28 U.S.C.A. § 1367.

FACTS

10. At approximately 5:00 p.m. on January 27, 2019, Officer Atman of the
Rosebud Sioux Tribal Law Enforcement heard a law enforcement dispatch for a call
regarding a disturbance and learned that Jacob Archambault may be a person of interest and
that Archambault was driving a gold SUV.

11.  Officer Atman saw three gold SUVs in rapid succession.

12.  Officer Atman located a gold Chevrolet Tahoe that was parked near the
intersection of Hospital Road and Tiny Road.

13, Officer Atman parked behind the Tahoe, and a female passenger exited the
rear driver’s side of the Tahoe.

14.  Officer Atman did not talk to the female who exited the Tahoe but activated
flashing lights on his patrol car and attempted to stop the Tahoe.

15.  The Tahoe proceeded across Hospital Road onto Tiny Road

16.  The Tahoe did not stop for the patrol car lights and traveled on Tiny Road.

17. At one point, the Tahoe turned around on Tiny Road, and Officer Atman then
knew that Archambault was the driver of the Tahoe.

18. Archambault drove the Tahoe from Tiny Road for a short distance, merged
onto Low Rent Housing Road, and then immediately turned onto North Spotted Tail Lane.

19.  Archambault continued driving to the end of North Spotted Tail Lane and then

turned onto an off-road trail that connected North Spotted Tail Lane to Spotted Tail Lane.
3
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20.  The shortcut trail, in an incline, parallels the two roads but then makes a sharp
turn for the final portion which includes a significant slope.

21.  The presence of accumulated snow on the trail caused the Tahoe to lose
traction on the off-road incline between the two paved roads.

22.  Archambault was making a failed attempt to get up the incline when Officer
Atman pulled onto the trail behind the Tahoe and blocked the trail to get back onto North
Spotted Tail Lane.

23.  Officer Romero drove onto the trail and parked next to Atman’s patrol car to
make sure the exit on North Spotted Tail Lane was blocked.

24.  Officers Atman and Romero parked their vehicles at the curve in the trail.

25.  The curve in the trail caused the police vehicles to be positioned perpendicular
to Archambault’s Tahoe.

26.  Officers Atman and Romero exited their vehicles and were standing on the
side of their vehicles while Archambault was attempting to drive up the snowy incline.

27.  Archambault was unable to crest the incline on the shortcut and reversed down
to make another attempt.

28.  During the process of reversing, Archambault drove past Officer Atman,
Atman’s vehicle, and Romero; he then stopped near Romero’s car before driving forward to
make the second attempt.

29.  Archambault again spun out during his second attempt at cresting the incline
on the final portion of the shortcut.

30.  Archambault reversed the Tahoe and began backing down the trail to make a

third attempt to crest the incline.
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31.  While backing the Tahoe, Archambault again passed Officer Atman, Atman’s
vehicle, and Romero, but then the Tahoe slid into the front corner and bumper of Romero’s
car.

32.  When the Tahoe contacted the bumper of Officer Romero’s vehicle, Atman
began firing his .40 caliber handgun at Archambault.

33.  Once Officer Atman began shooting at Archambault, Officer Romero also
started shooting.

34.  Officers Atman and Romero shot at Archambault through the passenger side
door of the Tahoe as it was reversing perpendicular to and past the officers.

35.  The Tahoe continued past Romero’s vehicle, and the officers continued to fire
bullets at Archambault through the front windshield of the Tahoe as it was driving away
from the officers.

36.  Officers Atman and Romero together fired fifteen (15) rounds at Archambault.

37.  Multiple bullets shot by Officers Atman and Romero struck Archambault.

38.  One bullet went through the left side of Archambault’s chest.

39.  After the officers shot Archambault, the Tahoe continued down a steep
embankment and crashed into a ravine.

40.  Archambault was partially ejected from the Tahoe, but he was alive when
Officers Atman and Romero went to check on him.

41.  Officers Atman and Romero did not render any medical aid to Archambault.

42.  Archambault died waiting for help.

43.  An autopsy performed on Archambault determined that the manner of his

death was a homicide.
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44,  The primary factor of Archambault’s cause of death was the gunshot sustained
to the left side of his chest which passed through his left lung.

45.  Asaconsequence of Defendants’ violation of Archambault’s federal civil
rights under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 and the Fourth, Fifth, and Fourteenth Amendments, Plaintiff
Charlee Archambault was mentally and emotionally injured and damaged as a proximate
result of Archambault’s wrongful death, including but not limited to: loss of familial
relations, decedent’s society, comfort, protection, companionship, love, affection, solace, and
moral support.

46.  Plaintiff Estate of Jacob Archambault, by and through Charlee Archambault,
the personal representative of Archambault’s estate, is entitled to recover wrongful death
damages as well as funeral and burial expenses.

47.  Plaintiff, Estate of Jacob Archambault, by and through Charlee Archambault,
the personal representative of Archambault’s estate, pursuant to her right of survivorship for
the pain and suffering he endured as a result of the violation of his civil rights.

48.  In the event that Plaintiff is the prevailing party, Plaintiff is entitled to an
award of attorneys’ fees and costs under 42 U.S.C. §§ 1983, 1985-86, and 1988.

COUNT ONE: VIOLATION OF CONSTITUTIONALLY PROTECTED RIGHTS
42 U.S.C.A. § 1983 (BIVENS ACTION)
(ESTATE OF JACOB ARCHAMBAULT V. JOSHUA ATMAN AND JAY ROMERO SR.)

Plaintiff realleges the information set forth in the paragraphs above and further
alleges:
40.  This claim for relief is brought pursuant to Bivens v. Six Unknown Named

Agents of Federal Bureau of Narcotics, 403 U.S. 288,397, 91 S.Ct. 1999 29 L.Ed.2d 619
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(1971), for violations of Archambeault’s rights under the Fourth and Fifth Amendments of
the United States Constitution, when Defendants Atman and Romero used excessive,
unreasonable, and unwarranted force during the pursuit.

41. At all times herein, Defendants Atman and Romero acted under color and
pretense of federal statutes, ordinances, regulations, policies, practices, customs, and uses of
the United States of America.

42.  On January 27, 2019, Archambault had the right under the Fourth Amendment
to be free from unreasonable search and seizure of his person.

43.  OnJanuary 27, 2019, Archambault possessed the rights guaranteed by the
Fifth Amendment to not be deprived of life and liberty without due process of law, including
but not limited to, the right not to suffer physical harm from persons acting under the color of
law that is intentionally or wantonly inflicted or which is accomplished with deliberate,
reckless or callous indifference to his constitutional rights.

44.  On January 27, 2019, Archambault had the rights guaranteed by the Equal
Protection Clause and the Due Process Clause of the Fifth Amendment of the United States
Constitution.

45.  On January 27, 2019, Defendants Atman and Romero, while acting under the
color of federal law as a United States Employee, intentionally deprived Archambault of his
Fourth Amendment right to be free from unreasonable seizures by subjecting him to
excessive force when they fired fifteen (15) rounds which resulted in the Archambault’s
death.

46.  On January 27, 2019, Defendants Atman and Romero, while acting under

color of federal law as a United States Federal Employee, intentionally violated
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Archambault’s rights guaranteed by the Fifth Amendment to not be deprived of life and
liberty without Due Process of Law, including but not limited to, the right not to suffer
physical harm from persons acting under color of the law that is intentionally or wantonly
inflicted or which is accomplished with deliberate, reckless or callous indifference to his
constitutional rights.

49.  Defendants Atman and Romero, by using such unreasonable force, caused
injury and damage to Archambault, ultimately causing fatal injuries.

50. At the time of the incident, Archambault was not engaged in any assaultive
behavior toward Defendants or any other persons.

51.  Defendants’ shooting of Archambault was completely unjustified by any
action of Archambault and said shooting constituted an unreasonable and excessive use of
force in violation of Archambault’s guaranteed rights under the Fourteenth Amendment to
the United States Constitution, which protects pretrial detainees from punishment.

52.  Defendants Atman and Romero acted specifically and with the intent to
deprive Archambault of the following rights and privileges guaranteed under the United

States Constitution:

a. Freedom from unreasonable seizures, in the form of use of excessive
force;

b. Freedom from deprivation of liberty without Due Process of Law;

c. Freedom from punishment prior to conviction for any crime; and

d. Equal protection of the laws.

53.  After the shooting, Archambault suffered pain from the injuries and eventually

died from the injuries. Archambault suffered severe physical, emotional, and psychological
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damage as a result of the conduct of Defendants Atman, Romero, and the Rosebud Sioux
Tribe.

54.  Defendants Atman and Romero subjected Archambault to the aforementioned
deprivations by either actual malice or deliberate indifference and disregard to
Archambault’s civil rights.

55.  Asadirect and proximate result of the aforementioned acts of Defendants
Atman and Romero, Archambault suffered general damages in the form of conscious pain
and suffering and loss of value of life, and now Plaintiff seeks compensatory damages
against Defendants in their individual capacity.

COUNT TWO: WRONGFUL DEATH —42 U.S.C. § 1983
(ESTATE OF JACOB ARCHAMBAULT v. JOSHUA ATMAN & JAY ROMERO SR.)

Plaintiff realleges the information set forth in the paragraphs above and further
alleges:

54.  Defendants acted under color of law by shooting and killing Archambault
without lawful justification and subjecting Archambault to excessive force which deprived
Archambault of certain constitutionally protected rights, which include, but are not limited
to:

a. The right to be free from unreasonable searches and seizures, as guaranteed by
the Fourth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution;
b. The right not to be deprived of life or liberty without due process of law, as

guaranteed by the Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution;
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c. Theright to be free from the use of excessive force by persons acting under
the color of law, here police officers, as guaranteed by the Fourth and
Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution.

56.  Asadirect and proximate result of the aforementioned acts of Defendants
Atman and Romero, Archambault suffered general damages in the form of conscious pain
and suffering and loss of value of life and seeks compensatory damages against Defendants
in their individual capacity.

COUNT THREE: VIOLATION OF CIVIL RIGHTS TO FAMILIAL
RELATIONSHIP — 42 U.S.C. § 1983)
(CHARLEE ARCHAMBAULT v. JOSHUA ATMAN & JAY ROMERO, SR.)

Plaintiff realleges the information set forth in the paragraphs above and further

alleges:

57.  Archambault was protected by rights guaranteed under the First, Fourth, and
Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution.

58.  Defendants Atman and Romero, acting under the color of law, and without due
process of law, deprived Plaintiff of her right to a familial relationship by seizing decedent
through the use of unreasonable, unjustified, and deadly force or violence which caused the
death of Plaintiff’s son.

59.  The violation of Archambault’s constitutionally protected rights by the
Defendants is the direct and proximate cause of Plaintiff’s loss of a familial relationship with

her son.
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60.  Plaintiff is entitled to and seeks damages against Defendants in the form of
general compensatory damages for the loss caused by Defendants along with funeral and
burial expenses incurred.

COUNT FOUR: VIOLATION OF CIVIL RIGHTS-42 U.S.C. § 1983)
(ESTATE OF JACOB ARCHAMBAULT v. JOSHUA ATMAN & JAY ROMERO, SR.)

Plaintiff realleges the information set forth in the paragraphs above and further

alleges:

61.  Jacob Archambault was protected by rights guaranteed under the Fourth, and
Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution.

62.  Defendants violated and deprived Archambault of his protected rights when
they unjustifiably shot and killed him.

63.  Archambault was forced to endure significant conscious pain and suffering
because of Defendant’s actions before his death.

64.  Archambault could not file an action before his death.

65.  Plaintiff, Charlee Archambault, as the mother of Archambeault and personal
representative of the Estate of Jacob Archambault claims damages for the conscious pain and
suffering incurred by Jacob Archambault, as provided for under 42 U.S.C. § 1983.

66.  Plaintiff is entitled to monetary damages on behalf of Archambault for the
suffered severe physical, emotional, and psychological damage incurred as a result of the
conduct of Defendants Atman and Romero.

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully prays that this Court:

a. Award general and compensatory damages to Plaintiff, and against the

Defendants, jointly and severally, in an amount to be determined at trial;

11
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b. For special damages, including but not limited to, past, present, and future
wage loss, income and support, medical expense and other special damages to be

determined in accordance with the proof provided;

C. For funeral and burial expenses;
d. For punitive and exemplary damages against Defendants, jointly and severally.
c. Award Plaintiff’s costs and attorney’s fees, pre-judgment and post-judgment

interest, all other damages allowed by law, and any such further relief the Court deems just
and equitable.

Respectfully submitted this 24" day of January 2022

/s/ John Hinrichs /s/ Jeffrey R. Beck

John Hinrichs SD#3166 Jeffrey R. Beck SD #4244

Heidepriem, Purtell, Siegel, Hinrichs BECK LAW, PROF. LLC

101 West 69™ Street, Ste. 105A 221 S. Phillips Ave., Ste. 204

Sioux Falls, South Dakota 57108 Sioux Falls, South Dakota 57104

P: (605) 252-9277 P: (605) 359-0135

F: (605) 679-4379 F: (605) 275.0628

John@HPSlawfirm.com Becklaw(@outlook.com

Attorney for Plaintiff Attorney for Plaintiff
DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL

Pursuant to the provisions of Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 38, as to causes of
action against Defendants Joshua Atman, Jay Romero Sr., and Unknown Supervisory
Personnel of the United States, and pursuant to Bivens and its progeny, Plaintiff hereby

demands a trial by jury of any issue triable of right by jury.
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